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VIRGINIA: 

FILED IN THE CLERK 'S OFFICE 
OF THE CiRCUIT COURT OF THE 

ALBEMARLE CI~!CUIT COURT 

DATE: 05/28/2019 @15:36:39 
IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE COUNTY OF ALBEMARLE 

EDWARD DICKINSON TAYLOE, II, 

Plaintiff, 

v. 

C-VILLE HOLDINGS, LLC 

Serve: J. Alden English, Registered Agent 
Woods Rogers, PLC 
123 East Main Street 
5th Floor 
Charlottesville, Virginia 22902 

and 

MELISSA PROVENCE 

and 

JALANE SCHMIDT 

Defendants. 

COMPLAINT 

TEr.:-1 E .. • 
'-I -~~----- - ------ -------

CLERK/DEPUTY CLERK 

CASE NO.: CL\q-BtJ~ 

TO THE HONORABLE JUDGES OF SAID COURT: 

COMES NOW Edward Dickinson Tayloe, JI ("Tayloe" or "Plaintiff'), and 

moves the Court for entry of judgment against C-ville Holdings, LLC ("C-Ville 

Weekly"), Melissa Provence (also known as "Lisa Provence"), and Jalane Schmidt 
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(collectively, "Defendants"),jointly and severally, and in support thereof respectfully 

states the following: 

Nature of the Action 

1. This is a defamation claim brought by Plaintiff Tayloe against C-ville 

Weekly, Melissa Provence, and Jalane Schmidt for a profile entitled "The plaintiffs: 

Who's who in the fight to keep Confederate monuments" (the "Profile"), which was 

published in the C-Ville Weekly print and online editions on March 6, 2019. The Profile 

damaged PlaintiffTayloe's personal and professional reputation by alleging, by 

implication and absent any factual support, that Plaintiff Tayloe opposed renaming 

Jackson and Lee Parks and removing their namesake monuments because he is a racist 

and an opponent of people of color. The Defendants' "evidence" for this false claim was 

Tayloe's participation in a lawsuit intended to preserve and protect the monuments in Lee 

and Jackson Parks, to oppose their renaming, and to oppose their covering with 

tarpaulins. This defamation action is brought to seek redress for the damage Plaintiff 

Tayloe suffered as a result of the publication of Defendants' false and defamatory 

statements, which subjected him to undeserved scorn and humiliation as an alleged racist 

living in the City of Charlottesville. 

Parties and Jurisdiction 

2.. Plaintiff Tayloe is an adult resident of Charlottesville, Virginia. 

3. On information and belief, Defendant C-ville Holdings, LLC is a Virginia 

limited liability corporation, and the owner and publisher of C-ville Weekly, a 

Charlottesville-based newspaper. C-ville Holdings, LLC is responsible for and liable for 

all actions taken by Defendant Melissa Provence alleged in this Complaint. On 

information and belief, Defendant Melissa Provence is an adult resident of Albemarle 
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County, Virginia. On information and belief, Defendant Jalane Schmidt is an adult 

resident of Charlottesville, Virginia. 

4. As the News Editor of C-ville Weekly, Melissa Provence was an 

employee, agent, and servant of her co-defendant C-ville Holdings, LLC. In researching, 

writing, editing, and assisting in the publication of the C-ville Weekly's articles, 

Provence acted within the scope of her employment and exercised the agency granted to 

her by Defendant C-ville Holding, LLC. In publishing stories written by Provence 

alongside her byline in its magazine, C-ville Holding, LLC participated in, authorized, 

and ratified Provence's research, writing, editing, and assistance in the publication of her 

story. 

5. Many of the causes of action alleged in this Complaint arose in the County 

of Albemarle. On information and belief, Defendant Melissa Provence lives in Albemarle 

County. On information and belief, Defendants regularly conduct substantial business 

activity in the County of Albemarle, Virginia. Venue is proper in this Court. 

Statement of Facts 

6. Paragraphs 1-5 of this Complaint are realleged and incorporated herein by 

reference. 

The Charlottesville Statue Litigation 

7. On February 6, 2017, the Charlottesville City Council passed a resolution 

to remove the statue of Robert E. Lee from the park formerly known as Lee Park. On that 

same day, the City Council also passed a resolution to rename Lee Park. Later in 2017, it 

was renamed Emancipation Park; in 2018, City Council renamed the park again to 

Market Street Park. Lee Park contains an equestrian statue and monument of Confederate 

General Robert E. Lee. 
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8. On February 6, 2017, the Charlottesville City Council passed a resolution 

to redesign and transform the park formerly known as Jackson Park. The resolution also 

proposed to redesign Lee Park, to add a memorial to Jackson Park, and to rename 

Jackson Park. Later in 2017, it was renamed Justice Park; in 2018, City Council renamed 

the park again to Court Square Park. Jackson Park contains a statue and monument to 

Confederate General Thomas Jonathan Jackson. 

9. These resolutions by Charlottesville City Council spawned widespread 

debate and disagreement concerning the future of the two parks, as well as their 

namesake monuments. 

10. On March 20, 2017, a group of interested citizens filed a Complaint in 

Charlottesville Circuit Court objecting to the defacement and removal of the two 

monuments, as well as the renaming of the dedicated park land. The plaintiffs in the 

original Complaint were: Frederick W. Payne, Esq., John Bosley Yellott, Jr., Edward 

Dickinson Tayloe, II (the Plaintiff in this case), Betty Jane Franklin Phillips, Edward 

Bergen Fry, Virginia C. Amiss, Stefanie Marshall, Charles L. Weber, Jr., Lloyd Thomas 

Smith, Jr., the Virginia Division of the Sons of Confederate Veterans, Inc., Anthony M. 

Griffin, Britton Franklin Earnest, Sr., and The Monument Fund, Inc. The Complaint and 

resulting litigation are referred to hereinafter as the "Statue Litigation." 

11. Plaintiff Tayloe agreed to join the group of plaintiffs in the Statue 

Litigation because he is a City of Charlottesville resident, registered voter, and taxpayer, 

as well as a combat veteran in the Special Forces division of the U.S. Army who served 

during the Vietnam War. He is also a past-president of the Lee-Jackson Educational 

Foundation, which contributed money to the 1997-1999 restoration of the two statues. 

Plaintiff Tayloe "has a special interest in the protection and preservation of war 
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memorials and monuments located in the City, including those of Generals Lee and 

Jackson," according to Paragraph 4 of the Statue Litigation complaint. Plaintiff Tayloe 

also feared that Charlottesville's Vietnam Memorial would be removed or covered in the 

same fashion as the Civil War memorials ifhe did not join the suit and enforce the law 

protecting war memorials. 

The Defamation 

12. The Profile written and published by Defendants C-ville Holdings, LLC 

and Provence and contributed to by Defendant Jalane Schmidt purported to investigate 

the motivation of the plaintiffs in the Statue Litigation. A true and correct online version 

of the Profile is attached to this complaint as Exhibit A. A true and correct print version 

of the Profile is attached as Exhibit B. Both Exhibits are incorporated herein and made a 

part of this Complaint. 

13. The Profile describes its genesis as, "C-VILLE reached out to the 

plaintiffs to find out why they joined the suit [the Statue Litigation] and whether anything 

had changed for them since 2017." Profile, p. 2. All page numbers herein refer to the 

online version of the Profile. 

14. Immediately after describing Provence's intention to find out "why [the 

plaintiffs in the Statue Litigation] joined the suit, Provence writes "Here's what we found 

out:". Id. The section concerning Plaintiff Tayloe immediately follows and constitutes the 

author's answer to her question of why each plaintiff joined the suit. The Profile of 

Plaintiff Tayloe reads: 

Tayloe, 76, comes from a First Family of Virginia that was one of the 
largest slave-owning dynasties in Virginia. His ancestor, John Tayloe II, 
called "one of the richest men of his day," built Mount Airy plantation in 
Warsaw. 
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John Tayloe Ill, ancestor of lawsuit plaintiff Edward Dickinson Tayloe II, was one 
of the wealthiest men of his generation and "bred horses and slaves," says the New 
York Times review of Richard Dunn's A Tale of Two Plantations. 

Tayloe' s great-great-grandfather, Benjamin Ogle Tayloe, invested in his 
brother Henry' s plan to start a cotton plantation in the Black Belt of 
Alabama in 1835, according to Richard Dunn' s 2015 book , A Tale ofTwo 
Plantations: Slave Life and Labor in Jamaica and Virginia. 

An 1807 ban on importing slaves had opened the domestic slave trade for 
Virginia and other coastal states. The Tayloes had a surplus of enslaved 
laborers at their Mount Airy plantation and they sent them to the Deep 
South. 

In 1838, the Tayloe brothers forced 57 slaves to walk 800 miles to Alabama, 
where most were sold. It was "the cruelest act that I have found recorded in 
the Tayloe papers," writes Dunn. 

Benjamin Ogle Tayloe continued to send rebellious slaves to Alabama as a 
warning to remaining slaves, says Dunn. 

Between 1833 and 1854, the Tayloes marched 120 enslaved people to 
Alabama, and another 98 were sent during the Civil War, says Dunn. The 
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domestic migration of enslaved people separated families, made Virginia a 
major slave exporter, and further enriched the Tayloes. 

PlaintiffTayloe's father, Edward Thornton Tayloe IV, was vice-chair of the 
Charlottesville Redevelopment and Housing Authority when the decision 
was made to raze the African American community of Vinegar Hill over 
the objections of its residents, many of whom were unable to vote on the 
issue because of a poll tax. 

And the plaintiff, a portfolio manager, was past president of the Lee-Jackson 
Foundation, which has an endowment of nearly $4 million, according to 
2014 IRS filings, and awards scholarships to students who write essays 
examining the legacies of the Confederate generals. 

According to the lawsuit, Tayloe saw combat during the Vietnam War and 
served in Special Forces, and has a "special interest in the protection and 
preservation of war memorials in the city." The Lee-Jackson Foundation 
contributed money in 1997 to the restoration of the Lee and Jackson statues, 
says the suit. 

A woman answering the phone at the Tayloe residence referred a reporter 
to spokesperson Weber. 

The plaintiffs cousin, Tayloe Emery, who lives at Mount Airy plantation 
and who used to work at C-VILLE Weekly, bristles at a reporter's inquiry 
about whether family members share his uncle's enthusiasm for 
Confederate monuments. He writes in an email, "It's a shame that our 
family name is being dragged around by the media and that reporters have 
the audacity to ask me stupid questions, like 'do all of your family support 
Confederate monuments?' 

"The answer is of course, no. The vast majority of my Virginia family are 
against Confederate monuments and anything that pays lip service to white 
nationalism in any way, shape, or form. Though many of us do in fact 
disagree with this lawsuit, we still support family members who may think 
differently on the subject and we hope that through continued conversation 
that they might see things from a different perspective and understand the 
bitter feelings and abhorrent racism associated with Confederate 
monuments." 

Says Schmidt, "For generations this family has been roiling the lives of 
black people, and this is what [plaintiff Tayloe] chooses to pursue." 

15. The quoted account is defamatory in its entirety and is of and concerning 

Plaintiff Tayloe. 
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16. The Profile includes false and defamatory implications that arise naturally 

and clearly from its explicit statements. All of these implications occur in the context of 

the article's promise to tell readers "why [Tayloe]" joined the suit." Profile, p. 2. 

a) The first sentence in the section on Plaintiff Tayloe introduces him as the 

descendant of slave owners, stating, "Tayloe, 76, comes from a First 

Family of Virginia that was one of the largest slave-owning dynasties in 

Virginia." The first sentence of Plaintiff Tayloe's profile implies that his 

family's history of owning slaves is part of his motivation for joining the 

Statue Litigation. 

b) The Profile continues with a picture of John Tayloe III, one of Plaintiff 

Tayloe's ancestors. The caption reads: "John Tayloe III, ancestor of 

lawsuit plaintiff Edward Dickinson Tayloe II, was one of the wealthiest 

men of his generation and 'bred horses and slaves,' says the New York 

Times review of Richard Dunn's A Tale of Two Plantations." Id. The 

allegation that John Tayloe III bred horses and slaves is the only 

information shared about him in the entire Profile; his inclusion, absent 

any other details about his life, was intended to support the Profile's 

implication that Plaintiff Tayloe comes from a line of racists, and shares 

their views toward people of color. 

c) The Profile describes the Tayloe family's participation in the domestic 

slave trade almost two hundred years ago, between the years 1835 and 

1854. Profile, at p. 3. Defendant Provence introduces Benjamin Ogle 

Tayloe as Plaintiff Tayloe's "great-great-grandfather." Id. at p. 2. The 

Profile quotes the book A Tale ofTwo Plantations, the author of which 
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observed that Benjamin Ogle Tayloe's decision to force fifty-seven slaves 

to walk eight hundred miles to Alabama in 1838 was "'the cruelest act that 

I have found recorded in the Tayloe papers ... "' Id. at p. 3. In the next 

sentence, the Profile explains that Benjamin Ogle Tayloe "continued to 

send rebellious slaves to Alabama as a warning to remaining slaves, says 

Dunn." Id. These two sentences inform the reader that the Tayloe family 

acted cruelly to slaves and threatened them with more cruelty as a 

warnmg. 

d) With this central theme in place, Defendant Provence jumps forward in 

time to a more recent ancestor of Plaintiff Tayloe: "Plaintiff Tayloe's 

father, Edward Thornton Tayloe IV, was vice-chair of the Charlottesville 

Redevelopment and Housing Authority when the decision was made to 

raze the African American community of Vinegar Hill over the objections 

of its residents, many of whom were unable to vote on the issue because of 

a poll tax." Id. The Profile implies, without stating, that Edward Thornton 

Tayloe1 was responsible for the decision to raze the African-American 

community of Vinegar Hill. In fact, the decision to raze Vinegar Hill and 

Cox's Row was supported by referendum. By selectively citing facts in 

common and introducing stories about Edward Thornton Tayloe and 

Benjamin Ogle Tayloe in close proximity in the Profile, Defendant 

Provence implies that Edward Thornton Tayloe's role in the razing of 

1 The Profile incorrectly identifies PlaintiffTayloe's father as Edward Thornton Tayloe IV. In fact, he was 
known as Edward Thornton Tayloe, with no ordinal designation. 
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Vinegar Hill was alike to Benjamin Ogle Tayloe's forced slave marches in 

the early 1800's. 

e) More than halfway through the Profile, the author finally addresses the 

subject of the Profile: Edward Dickinson Tayloe, II. Defendant Provence 

spends almost no time exploring Plaintiff Tayloe's life, compressing his 

history and involvement in the Statue Litigation to a scant two paragraphs 

in the section, which numbers thirteen paragraphs, plus the photograph 

and caption. These paragraphs provide only skeletal details about Plaintiff 

Tayloe: that he is a portfolio manager; that he was past president of the 

"Lee-Jackson Foundation"; that he saw combat in Vietnam as a Special 

Forces soldier; that he has "a special interest in the protection and 

preservation of war memorials in the city"; and that the "Lee-Jackson 

Foundation" contributed money in 1997 to the restoration of the Lee and 

Jackson statues. Id. No information is provided about "whether anything 

had changed for [Plaintiff Tayloe] since 2017." 

f) Two additional paragraphs are devoted to quoting PlaintiffTayloe's 

cousin, Tayloe Emery, who opposes the Statue Litigation. 

g) The final paragraph includes a quotation from Jalane Schmidt, which 

gives voice to the central theme of the author's profile on Plaintiff Tayloe: 

"For generations this family has been roiling the lives of black people, and 

this is what [plaintiff Tayloe] chooses to pursue." Id. Defendant Schmidt's 

reductive and unbalanced view definitively answers the author's posed 

question of "why [Plaintiff Tayloe] joined the suit." Id. Schmidt's 
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assertion is offered without refutation or counterpoint, and explains 

Provence's selective quotation of Tayloe family history. 

1 7. These defamatory statements convey false and defamatory inferences, 

implications, and insinuations about Plaintiff Tayloe. Specifically, those inferences, 

implications, and insinuations are: 

a) Plaintiff Tayloe is a racist; 

b) Plaintiff Tayloe joined the Statue Litigation to antagonize people of color; 

c) Plaintiff Tayloe intends to "roil the lives of black people"; 

18. The Profile section for Plaintiff Tayloe is false and defamatory in its 

overall collective gestalt meaning, which is that Plaintiff Tayloe joined the Statue 

Litigation to continue his family's centuries-old tradition of antagonizing people of color. 

There are no other family histories included in the Profile on the other plaintiffs, and no 

other events cited from the distant past. The Defendants' decision to include Plaintiff 

Tayloe's family history was plainly intended to tie his involvement in the litigation to a 

history of, in their view and in Jalane Schmidt's view, systematic cruelty to and 

antagonism of people of color. 

19. None of these false and defamatory implications are true. 

a) Plaintiff Tayloe is not a racist; 

b) Plaintiff Tayloe did not join the Statue Litigation to antagonize people of 

color, but rather because of his desire to see the undisturbed continuation 

of war memorials and because he rightfully demands that his elected 

representatives obey the rule of law; 

c) Plaintiff Tayloe has never intended to roil the lives of black people, and 

did not intend to do so by joining the Statue Litigation; 
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d) PlaintiffTayloe's family does not have a tradition or history of "roiling the 

lives of black people" or systematic cruelty towards people of color, and 

he has never taken part in any behavior meeting this description. 

20. Defendants published the defamatory Profile with actual malice­

knowledge of falsity or reckless disregard for truth or falsity-and negligence. The 

allegations in this Complaint dealing with fault demonstrate that the Defendants 

published their Profile with actual malice. All of the allegations of fault alleged below 

that meet the actual malice standard of knowledge of falsity or reckless disregard for truth 

or falsity thus also allege the lesser included fault level of negligence. 

Defendants' Conduct in Publishing the Profile 

21. All Defendants failed to reasonably investigate the defamatory statements, 

inferences, implications, and insinuations contained in the Profile. No Defendant or agent 

of any Defendant questioned Plaintiff Tayloe about "why he joined the suit." Defendant 

Provence made a cursory effort to contact Mr. Tayloe by phone, but such "checking-the­

box" journalism does not constitute a defense to defamation. Because the claims 

specifically concerned Plaintiff Tayloe's subjective reasons for joining the suit, his 

perspective was essential to the story. Defendant Provence should have done more to 

arrange a meeting with Plaintiff Tayloe, to include submitting a precis of or summarizing 

to Tayloe what she intended to publish. PlaintiffTayloe's refusal to discuss the lawsuit 

with Provence was prudent when viewed in the context of multi-plaintiff litigation in 

which one plaintiff-attorney, Mr. Charles Weber, was nominated as the spokesperson for 

all the Statue Litigation Plaintiffs. Defendant Schmidt did not even attempt to contact 

Plaintiff Tayloe to verify her claim about his efforts to "roil the lives of black people." 
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Her claim cites no factual support other than the fact that Plaintiff is a plaintiff in the 

Statue Litigation. 

22. Defendants' defamatory statements about Plaintiff Tayloe supported a pre-

selected narrative about racism as the driving force behind the Statue Litigation. In the 

preamble to the Profile, Defendant Schmidt states: "You've got the bow tie, upscale 

people tied to the League of the South people who want to secede and are slavery 

apologists." Id. at p. 1. Defendants Provence and C-ville Weekly tied Plaintiff Tayloe to 

League of the South slavery apologists by ordering their profiles first and second in the 

article and by falsely ascribing racist motives to Plaintiff Tayloe's decision to join the 

statue litigation. Defendants had no factual basis for their claims that Plaintiff Tayloe's 

involvement was racially motivated; in fact, they had factual evidence that his 

involvement was not racially motivated due to the paragraphs quoted from the Statue 

Litigation complaint explaining the basis for his standing. 

23. Defendants failed to contact any friends or acquaintances of Plaintiff 

Tayloe who might have explained their view of his involvement in the litigation. 

According to the Profile, Defendant Provence asked Tayloe Emery, PlaintiffTayloe's 

cousin, whether " ... all of your family support Confederate monuments?" Defendant 

Provence's question is evidence that she intended the defamatory implication that 

Plaintiff Tayloe's participation in the Statue Litigation represents his family's values. Her 

loaded question also demonstrates her commitment to her pre-selected narrative of the 

Tayloes as a monolithic, bigoted, white Southern family. Defendants cited no information 

provided by any person in a position of authority or credibility that supported their 

defamatory statements, inferences, implications, and insinuations. Defendants' statements 

alleged in this Complaint were designed and intended to imply the defamatory meanings 
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attributed to them in this Complaint, and the Defendants' statements reasonably conveyed 

those defamatory implications to readers. 

24. Prior to the publication of the Profile, Plaintiff Tayloe earned an excellent 

reputation in the Charlottesville community through his diligent work on behalf of his 

financial clients, his civic participation, his service as a Vietnam soldier, and respectful 

and fair treatment of all. Plaintiff Tayloe has lived in Charlottesville since 1958. He 

graduated from Lane High School in 1962, at which time the school was racially 

integrated. He enlisted in 1966 and served until 1969, including a tour in Vietnam, during 

which time he was awarded the Bronze Star for Valor, the Combat Infantryman's Badge, 

and the Army Commendation Medal - Vietnam. He retired from military service with a 

final rank of Sergeant and remained on reserve status until 1972. He earned a Bachelor of 

Science degree from East Carolina University in 1971 and completed coursework at the 

New York Institute of Finance in 1972. He worked as a stockbroker, trust investment 

officer, and financial planner for almost thirty years from 1971 to 2000. He presently 

serves his community as the Treasurer of the Perry Foundation, Inc. and as the Chairman 

of the Samuel Miller Endowment Fund for UV A. In the past, he served on the board of 

the American Cancer Society, the Blue Ridge School, as the Chairman of the 

Charlottesville Industrial Development Authority, and as President of the Lee-Jackson 

Educational Foundation. Plaintiff Tayloe has condemned racism for his entire life, and 

does so now. Plaintiff Tayloe is not a racist and any claim, suggestion, or implication that 

he is would be false and defamatory in its entirety. 

25. The result of the publication of Defendants' false and defamatory 

statements was to accuse Plaintiff Tayloe of race-baiting in a political and social 
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atmosphere in Charlottesville, Virginia where, since August 12, 2017, there is virtually 

no worse label. 

COUNT I - Defamation 

26. Paragraphs 1-25 of this Complaint are realleged and incorporated 

herein by reference. 

27. The statements made by Defendants C-ville Holding, LLC, Melissa 

Provence, and Jalane Schmidt regarding PlaintiffTayloe's involvement in the Statue 

Litigation, published on March 6, 2019 as alleged in this Complaint, are all statements of 

and concerning Edward Dickinson Tayloe, II; are defamatory per se; and were made 

either negligently and/or with actual malice, that is, with either knowledge of the falsity 

of the statements contained therein, and/or with reckless disregard for their truth. 

28. Plaintiff Tayloe is a private figure and was so at the time of the 

defamatory statement. 

29. Defendants either knew the statements they published regarding Plaintiff 

Tayloe and his alleged motivation for joining the Statue Litigation were false, or, 

believing them to be true, lacked reasonable grounds for such belief and/or acted 

negligently and/or recklessly in failing to ascertain the facts on which their statements 

relied, and therefore were negligent and/or reckless in publishing those statements of and 

concerning Plaintiff Tayloe. 

30. Defendants published the false and defamatory statements of and 

concerning Plaintiff Tayloe either negligently or knowing of their falsehood or probable 

falsehood. The defamatory and false statements set forth in the preceding paragraphs of 

this Complaint created and made apparent to Defendants a substantial danger to Plaintiff 

Tayloe's reputation. 
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Damages and Prayer for Relief 

31. Paragraphs 1-30 of this Complaint are realleged and incorporated 

herein by reference. 

32. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants' defamation, malice, 

negligence, and other tortious conduct alleged in this Complaint, Plaintiff Tayloe has 

been caused to suffer actual damages, including, but not limited to, impairment of 

reputation, diminished standing in the community, humiliation, injury and 

embarrassment, emotional distress, mental anguish, professional and business harm, loss 

of earning capacity, loss of income, loss and impairment to contracts, loss of business 

opportunities and expectancies and has been otherwise damaged. 

33. Plaintiff Tayloe is entitled to presumed damages because the false and 

defamatory statements made by Defendants have injured and will injure him further in 

the practice of his business, trade, or profession, and thus are defamatory per se. 

34. Plaintiff Tayloe is entitled to punitive damages as a result of Defendants' 

willful and malicious conduct and actions, as well as to his attorneys' fees and costs of 

this suit. 

WHEREFORE, the Plaintiff, Edward Dickinson Tayloe, II, moves this Court for 

the entry of judgment against Defendants C-ville Holdings, LLC, Melissa Provence, and 

Jalane Schmidt, jointly and severally, in the sum of ONE MILLION DOLLARS 

($1,000,000.00) for compensatory damages, plus prejudgment interest thereon from 

March 6, 2019 pursuant to Virginia Code §8.01-382 Ann. (1950, as amended). Plaintiff 

moves this Court for the entry of judgment against each Defendant in the sum of THREE 

HUNDRED FIFTY THOUSAND DOLLARS ($350,000.00) for punitive damages. Plaintiff also 

requests that he be awarded his attorneys' fees and costs of this suit. 
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TRIAL BY JURY IS DEMANDED. 

CoZ!Lr 
1;;,,,, E. Albro (VSB #12812) 
Evan D. Mayo (VSB #89383) 
TREMBLAY & SMITH, PLLC 
105-109 East High Street 
Charlottesville, Virginia 22902 
Telephone: (434) 977-4455 
Facsimile: (434) 979-1221 
Tom.albro@tremblaysmith.com 
evan.mayo@tremblaysmith.com 

Respectfully Submitted, 

EDWARD DICKINSON TAYLOE, II 

By Counsel 
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The plaintiffs: Who's who in 
the fight to keep Confederate 
monuments 

.(httRs:/lwww.c-ville.com/the-Rlaintiffs-whos-who-in-the-fight-to-keeP--COnfederate­
monuments!) Sons of Confederate Veterans' Frank Earnest is unwavering in his belief 
that the Civil War was not about slavery, and the statues of generals Lee and Jackson 
honor defenders of the state. Photo: Timothy C. Wright 

News (!l!!P.si/www.c­
ville.com/calegory/news/l 

Lisa Provence 
.(httRs:l/www.c­
ville.com/author/I 

Before August 12, 2017, many people thought of America's 

Confederate statues as harmless pieces of history-if they 

thought of them at all. Then the hate groups came to 

Charlottesville, ostensibly to protest the monuments' removal . 

The violent clashes that led to the death of Heather Heyer and 

the injury of dozens, and the sight of Confederate flags waving 

alongside Nazi flags, brought new urgency to the conversation 

about the meaning of Confederate symbols. 

Cities like Baltimore and New Orleans quietly sent their 

monuments packing. Descendants of General Robert E. Lee and 

General Stonewall Jackson have said statues of their ancestors 
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have become tributes to white supremacy and need to go. And 

many brought up the words of Lee himself, who was opposed to 

memorializing the Confederacy after the war was over. 

But one group of citizens remains unconvinced-the 13 plaintiffs 

in the lawsuit known as Monument Fund v. Charlottesville. 

The people and organizations suing to stop the city from moving 

its Confederate statues straddle a spectrum that ranges from 

First Families of Virginia to a heritage organization that has 

members who were here August 12 with a secessionist, neo­

Confederate gang. 

"You've got the bow tie, upscale people tied to the League of the 

South people who want to secede and are slavery apologists," 

says activist and UV A professor J alane Schmidt. 

Three years ago, some City Council members and local activists 

raised the idea of removing the Confederate statues from 

downtown. The city appointed a community commission that 

spent months examining the issue and ultimately presented City 

Council with two options to consider: relocating the statues to 

McIntire Park or re-contextualizing them by transforming the 

existing sites. In February 2017, City Council voted 3-2 to remove 

the Lee statue, and in April voted to sell it. 

Then came August 12. Following the trauma that made 

Charlottesville a national hashtag, former "no" votes Mike Signer 

and Kathy Galvin joined Wes Bellamy, Kristin Szakos, and Bob 

Fenwick in saying that both the Lee and Jackson statues should 

go. 

And that's the issue in the lawsuit: whether councilors violated 

Virginia state law, which forbids the removal of war memorials, 

when they voted to send the Confederate generals on their way. 

The lawsuit is approaching its second anniversary March 20. It's 

scheduled to be in court March 11, but plaintiff spokesman 

Buddy Weber is dubious that it will go to trial then because 

Jones Day, one of the largest law firms in the world, is 

representing four of the five councilors and has asked for a jury 

trial. 

In the two years the case has been active, Judge Rick Moore has 

ruled that the councilors do not have immunity and are 

personally liable for voting to remove the monuments. 

In January, Delegate David Toscano carried a bill to allow 

localities to decide for themselves whether they want 

Confederate statues in their midst. The bill was killed in 

subcommittee. 



While much has been written about-and much blame thrown at 

-those who first raised the idea of removing Confederate 

monuments from the center of town, very little attention has 

been paid to those still fighting the city's decision. C-VILLE 

reached out t o the plaintiffs to find out why they joined the suit 

and whether anything had changed for them since 2017. 

Here's what we found out: 

Edward Dickinson Tayloe II 
Tayloe, 76, comes from a First Family of Virginia that was one of 

the largest slave-owning dynasties in Virginia. His an cestor, 

J ohn Tayloe II, called "one of the richest men of his day," built 

Mount Airy plantation in Warsaw. 

{bllP.:l/www.c-ville.com/wP.: 

content/uP.loads/2019/03/John TaY.loe Ill GilbertStuart.jP.Q). 

John Tayloe Ill, ancestor of lawsuit plaintiff Edward Dickinson Tayloe II, was 

one of the wealthiest men of his generation and "bred horses and slaves," 

says the New Yor1< Times review of Richard Dunn's A Tale of Two Plantations. 

Tayloe's great-great-grandfather, Benjamin Ogle Tayloe, invested 

in his brother Henry's plan t o start a cotton plantation in the 

Black Belt of Alabama in 1835, according to Richard Dunn's 2015 

book, A Tale of Two Plantations: Slave Life and Labor in 

Jamaica and Virginia. 



An 1807 ban on importing slaves had opened the domestic slave 

trade for Virginia and other coastal states. The Tayloes had a 

surplus of enslaved laborers at their Mount Airy plantation and 

they sent them to the Deep South. 

In 1838, the Tayloe brothers forced 57 slaves to walk 800 miles 

to Alabama, where most were sold. It was "the cruelest act that I 

have found recorded in the Tayloe papers," writes Dunn. 

Benjamin Ogle Tayloe continued to send rebellious slaves to 

Alabama as a warning to remaining slaves, says Dunn. 

Between 1833 and 1854, the Tayloes marched 120 enslaved 

people to Alabama, and another 98 were sent during the Civil 

War, says Dunn. The domestic migration of enslaved people 

separated families, made Virginia a major slave exporter, and 

further enriched the Tayloes. 

PlaintiffTayloe's father, Edward Thornton Tayloe IV, was vice­

chair of the Charlottesville Redevelopment and Housing 

Authority when the decision was made to raze the African 

American community of Vinegar Hill over the objections of its 

residents, many of whom were unable to vote on the issue 

because of a poll tax. 

And the plaintiff, a portfolio manager, was past president of the 

Lee-Jackson Foundation, which has an endowment of nearly $4 

million, according to 2014 IRS filings, and awards scholarships 

to students who write essays examining the legacies of the 

Confederate generals. 

According to the lawsuit, Tayloe saw combat during the Vietnam 

War and served in Special Forces, and has a "special interest in 

the protection and preservation of war memorials in the city." 

The Lee-Jackson Foundation contributed money in 1997 to the 

restoration of the Lee and Jackson statues, says the suit. 

A woman answering the phone at the Tayloe residence referred a 

reporter to spokesperson Weber. 

The plaintiffs cousin, Tayloe Emery, who lives at Mount Airy 

plantation and who used to work at C-VILLE Weekly, bristles at 

a reporter's inquiry about whether family members share his 

uncle's enthusiasm for Confederate monuments. He writes in an 

email, "It's a shame that our family name is being dragged 

around by the media and that reporters have the audacity to ask 

me stupid questions, like 'do all of your family support 

Confederate monuments?' 

"The answer is of course, no. The vast majority of my Virginia 

family are against Confederate monuments and anything that 

pays lip service to white nationalism in any way, shape, or form. 

Though many of us do in fact disagree with this lawsuit, we still 



support family members who may think differently on the 

subject and we hope that through continued conversation that 

they might see things from a different perspective and 

understand the bitter feelings and abhorrent racism associated 

with Confederate monuments." 

Says Schmidt, "For generations this family has been roiling the 

lives of black people, and this is what [plaintiff Tayloe] chooses 

to pursue." 

Anthony Griffin 

Britton Franklin Earnest 

Virginia Division, Sons of Confederate 
Veterans 

Smithfield resident Tony Griffin, 57, is a Sons of Confederate 

Veterans "commander," and Frank Earnest, who lives in Virginia 

Beach, holds the title "heritage defense coordinator." 

Earnest, 63, has been representing the Sons for almost 30 years, 

he says. "We are the bloodline descendants of the Confederate 

Army," and when people start "mudslinging" about the 

Confederacy, they're "talking about my great-great-grandfather." 

The Sons of Confederate Veterans contributed money to the 1997 

restoration of the Lee and Jackson statues, and to the litigation, 

according to the lawsuit. "We don't want to see monuments to 

defending our state removed," says Earnest. 

Earnest was in town August 11, 2017, for a Katie Courie interview 

and then got the heck out of Dodge. "It's pretty bad when you 

know a riot is coming," he says. 

But the violence and open white nationalism of the Unite the 

Right rally have not changed Earnest's mind about Confederate 

monuments. "Absolutely not," he says. "It's not something that 

comes or goes. They honor our ancestors." 

And he maintains the SCV has nothing to do with the white 

supremacist and neo-Nazi groups that showed up here, adding 

that it advised its members to stay away. "We have always 

denounced racist groups over our hundred-year history," he says. 

"We have nothing to do with those people." 

Yet some Sons of Confederate Veterans members were here and 

hold dual affiliations with League of the South, which describes 

itself as a "Southern nationalist organization." Its website honors 

John Wilkes Booth for his service "to the South and humanity." 



"We're an organization of thousands," says Earnest when asked 

about brothers George and Gregory Randall. He believes they're 

still SCV members. "I don't think we determined anyone in SCV 

did anything that rose to the level of complete expulsion." 

And, he says, Sons of Confederate Veterans are "in no way 

associated" with League of the South. 

(b.t!Jr//www.c-ville.com/wR: 

contenUu12Ioads/2019/03/Randall RodneY.-Dunning,j12g) 

Sons of Confederate Veterans member George Randall carries the flag of 

neo-Confederate League of the South at Unite the Right. Photo: Rodney 

Dunning 

Gregory Randall, who portrays General Stonewall Jackson in 

Civil War reenactments, and his twin George were in 

Charlottesville August 12 with League of the South. 

George Randall, who lives near Fredericksburg, says he keeps his 

memberships separate and describes Sons of Confederate 

Veterans as a "histo1ical" group while League of the South is 

"more political." 

Of the latter , he explains, "We're secessionists." He cites his 

ancestors and the Lost Cause narrative in objecting to 

Confederate monument removal. "We were invaded." And he 

insists, "The war had nothing to do with slavery." 

He also blames Wes Bellamy for the whole monument mess, and 

says Bellamy is a "black supremacist ." 

Says Randall, "I'm tired of everything being about race, race, 

race." He object s to being called a white supremacist for wanting 

to "protect our culture. If you stand up for your people, you 're a 

Nazi or racist. It has nothing to do with hate." 

Randall was here for a lawsuit hearing in 2017 to provide security 

for an unnamed person, he says, but did not seem keen on 

returning for the upcoming court date because the last time he 

was here, his tires were slashed. 



"I think Charlottesville sucks," he says, denouncing "anarchist 

communists" and "antifa" whom he says threw urine and feces at 

him and his League of the South colleagues August 12. Says 

Randall, "You can't wear a MAGA hat. I think it's a crying 

shame." 

"Did we have a couple of rogue members in Charlottesville?" 

queries Earnest. "Probably, but we told them not to come." 

Is there a perception that the Sons of Confederate Veterans is a 

racist organization? "How much more prejudiced and bigoted 

can you be to ask that?" says Earnest, who has had a lot of 

experience talking to the press, not all of it to his satisfaction. 

For instance, he was not pleased with a November 28 

Washington Post story about him titled "Sins of the Fathers: The 

Confederacy was built on slavery. How can so many Southern 

whites believe otherwise?" 

"I was very disappointed," he says. 

Charles L. Weber Jr. 
Buddy Weber was in the U.S. Navy for 27 years, serving as a 

combat pilot before getting his law degree from UV A in 1998. He 

was chair of the city GOP, and in 2013, he ran for City Council 

with former city cop Mike Farruggio. 



.(htt1:1://www.c-ville.com/wR:: 
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Attorney and Vietnam War vet Buddy Weber worries that if memorials to 

unpopular wars can be removed, Vietnam War monuments could be next. 

Photo: Elli Williams 

Weber, 73, initially was appointed defense attorney for Heather 

Heyer's murderer, James Fields, but cited his role in the lawsuit 

as a conflict of interest. 

He says he signed on as a plaintiff for two reasons. As a lawyer 

and firm believer in the rule of law, "it's my earnest belief City 

Council had violated the law, whether you believe the statues 

should stay or go," he says. 

And as a veteran of the "very unpopular" Vietnam War, he 

worries that those memorials could be next, negating the 

sacrifice citizens made of life and limb to defend this country. 

Virginia state law "protects these memorials from the shifting 

tide of public opinion," he says. 

If the General Assembly decides to change that , it can, he says, 

but he thinks Toscano's bill to allow localities to make their own 

decisions about Confederate monuments is "a cop out." 



Weber also distances himself from those who showed up to 

support the Confederate monuments in 2017, taking the battle to 

court instead. "We do it without lighting tiki torches," he says. "I 

don't personally feel tarred because we have no association with 

them." 

Lloyd Smith 
The founding partner of law firm Tremblay and Smith and a 

founder of Guaranty Bank and Virginia Broadcasting, the parent 

company of today's NBC29, died last summer at age 85. 

From 1997 through 1999, the former Marine represented a 

private group of citizens who raised money to restore the Lee and 

Jackson statues. That was a major reason he signed onto the 

lawsuit, says his son, Garrett Smith. 

"The city agreed to maintain the statues in perpetuity," he says, 

adding that his father always felt that when he represented 

people as clients, he continued to represent them. 

Lloyd Smith "had a great love of history'' and would visit Civil 

War battle sites, says Garrett Smith. "He believed the facts of the 

Civil War and the oppression of enslaved people was a history 

that needed to be told and understood." 

According to Smith, when Weber and attorney Fred Payne were 

helping to organize the lawsuit, they knew his father as "a 

Democrat and he represented a different group. He wasn't a 

hardcore conservative Republican." 

He says his father was saddened by the events of August 2017, 

but Garrett Smith doesn't think that changed his father's mind 

about the statues. "The city had become a flashpoint for a larger 

national debate." 

Frederick W. Payne 
Attorney Fred Payne declined to comment for this story. In the 

first court hearing on the case May 2, 2017, Payne testified as an 

expert on Civil War uniforms because he "grew up with 

Confederate insignias since he was 10 years old." 



.(httR:llwww.c-ville.com/~contenUuRloads/2019/03/news­
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Fred Payne, an attorney and lawsuit plaintiff, has testified as an expert on Civil 

War uniforms. Staff photo. 

The founder of Payne and Hodous in 1992, he serves as county 

attorney for Fluvanna, and was deputy county attorney for 

Albemarle from 1974 to 1987. He was also was an assistant 

commonwealth's attorney for the county in 1979, according to 

the Payne and Hodous website. 

Payne graduated magna cum laude from Yale, and got his law 

degree at UVA. He's been president of the Charlottesville 

Albemarle Bar Association, as well as head of the city and county 

criminal bar association. 

One of Payne's better-known cases was his defense of widow 

Shirley Presley, who, in 2002, strung razor wire to block Rivanna 

Trail hikers from a path on her property along the river. The 

Rivanna Trail Foundation neglected to get her permission or an 

easement for that portion of the trail. A judge ruled in Presley's 

favor on a code violation, and she settled her $1.5 million lawsuit 

against the city and foun dation in 2008. 

John Bosley Yellott Jr. 

The Monument Fund 
Jock Yellott is the fourth plaintiff in t he lawsuit who's an 

attorney. He's also executive director of the Monument Fund, a 

nonprofit formed in October 2016 to help fund the statues' 

defense. In 2017, it raised nearly $119,000, according to its IRS 

990 form. 

Because of his fundraising, Yellott, 64 , has a financial interest in 

the outcome of the suit, and he conducts history tours describing 

the monuments, according to the complaint. He testified that he 



walks his dog through Market Street or Court Square parks daily. 

He did not return C-VILLE's call. 

Betty Jane Franklin Phillips 
Phillips, 82, is described in court documents as a collateral 

descendant of Paul Goodloe McIntire, who donated the 

controversial statues and the once-segregated parks they inhabit, 

along with a number of other monuments, parks, and buildings 

around town. The Keswick resident is a Lane High School 

graduate. She did not respond to phone messages from C-VILLE. 

Edward Bergen Fry 
Ned Fry, 31, is the youngest of the plaintiffs. His great uncle 

Henry Shrady was the sculptor McIntire hired to create the Lee 

statue, and Shrady also did the IBysses S. Grant statue in 

Washington near the Capitol. 

Fry is himself a sculptor and graduated with a degree in 

sculpture from Virginia Commonwealth University. The CHS 

grad did not get back to us to discuss further his participation in 

the lawsuit, but at a 2016 Blue Ribbon Commission on Race, 

Memorials and Public Spaces hearing, he said he was in favor of 

keeping the statues because, "They are historical works of art 

and, more importantly, because Henry Shrady is my great-great­

great uncle." 

Virginia C. Amiss 
The 94-year-old plaintiff remembers riding the trolley from 

downtown to the Rotunda when she was 7 years old to take violin 

lessons, and that's when she decided she wanted to study nursing 

at UVA, she wrote to Virginia magazine in 2010. She graduated 

in 1946, and worked at UV A and in Houston, as an operating 

room supervisor. 

Amiss had had dental surgery and didn't feel up to talking when 

C-VILLE reached her, and she did not respond a follow-up call. 

While she is suing to keep the Confederate statues, she was not a 

fan of other sculptures installed around town by the city's Art in 

Place program, a nonprofit dedicated to public art. In 2005, she 

asked City Council to eliminate the $5,000 it gave to the 

program. As Cvilleindymedia.org reported, "At the last meeting, 

her immortal words rang out: 'Rearranged junk is still junk."' 

On Facebook, she supports prayer in school-and in the White 

House. 

And through marriage, Amiss is related to Unite the Right 

organizer Jason Kessler. According to Ancestry.com and U.S. 

Census records, her husband, Lester "Randy" Amiss was first 



cousin to Kessler's great-grandfather, LaSalle Norvell. 

Stefanie Marshall 
Albemarle resident Marshall is chair of the Monument Fund and 

has "personally expended money and effort in cleaning graffiti 

from the Lee monument in 2011 and 2015," says the complaint. 

She and her husband own construction company M3, which 

specializes in masonry. The company supports the Fraternal 

Order of Police, Live Arts, The Paramount Theater, Albemarle 

Charlottesville Historical Society and various local charitable 

organizations, according to its website. 

The lawsuit is not the first time the county resident has had a 

problem with city government. In 2016, she took issue with City 

Council's decision to honor Khizr and Ghazala Khan, and told 

council: "It seems to me that in order for a Gold Star family to be 

honored and recognized by the current City Council, they must 

speak at the Democratic National Convention. This is not 

appropriate, nor is it acceptable. It reeks of choosing to honor 

specific families or individuals because they fit your narrative." 

Marshall, 52, did not respond to a message from C-VILLE. 

Correction March 7: Tayloe Emery is a cousin, not nephew of 

Edward Tayloe, and this Stefanie Marshall did not graduate 

from Albemarle High. 
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- Marvin Edwards 

Article 3, Section 3, of the U.S. Constitution says: 
"Treason against the United States, shall consist only in 
levying War against them, or in adhering to their 
Enemies, giving them Aid and Comfort. " 

Confederate generals, despite what you might have 
been led to believe, committed treason against the 
United States of America. They levied war against our 
country. 

Slavery and treason are morally and legally wrong. To 
erect statues to celebrate them is a public obscenity, 
which we have tolerated only in our ignorance and to 
avoid confronting our guilt. 

Like· Reply· C 1 · 10w 
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lawsuit's participants to anyone else? Listing all the 
companies they own and charities they support and 

their various ancestors and relatives, is that supposed 
to bring pressure to drop out or something? 

Any article on the controversy that doesn't lay blame at 
the feet of Wes Bellemy is biased in my opinion. 

I used to spend most summer afternoons in Lee Park 
reading books from the library just across the street. 
Although I now live in Dallas, I follow this issue closely 
and see from afar the damage it has done to the city's 
reputation. 

Like· Reply· C 1 · 10w 

Matityahu Soa 

Establish a Confederacy museum in Richmond and 
move the statues there. They're even taking down 
statues by 47-0 votes in Mississippi nowadays. Come 
on folks. Let's move on and join forces in focusing on 
our enemies overseas who would annihilate us 
regardless of how we perceive what happened here 
157 years ago ... 

Like· Reply· CD 3 · 11w 

II Joyce Stevens 

No. The monuments were built to stand for 
public viewing. It would cost a fortune to move 
them and cost to enter the museum. 

Like · Reply· C 1 · 11w 

Rick Borden 

The War Memorials should stay just like any 
other War Memorial. They were put in place to 
remember those who gave their lives on the 
field of battle and Political victimizing has no 
place alongside a man's ultimate sacrifice. 

Like· Reply· C 1 · 11w 

Rick Borden 

I hadn't heard anything about Mississippi voting 
47-0 to take down the War Memorials! That's 
astonishing. 

Like· Reply· 11w 

• James F. Simcoe 

· Eventually, we will get around to discussing the general 
the men who enlisted from the Albemarle area, the 19th 
Virginia, Along with Lee, it was Longstret they gave 
their deepest emotion to, James Longstreet, Corp 
commander, NOT Jackson. There was resentment 
amonsgt local veterans after the war over the 'Western', 
the Shennandoah contingent of the Southern Historicial 
Society, presenting only one face to the world, i.e., 
Lee/Jackson. But then Longstreet led the integrated city 
militia of New Orleans in 1870 outnumbered 3 to 1 
against an irregular state militia determined to throw out 



Keconstru ... ::;ee More 

Like · Reply· 11w 

• Judy Mills Werner 
's- Wow! Honestly Lisa, could you be any more liberal? 

"Before August 12, 2017, many people thought of 
America's Confederate statues as harmless pieces of 
history-if they thought of them at all. Then the hate 
groups came to Charlottesville, ostensibly to protest the 
monuments' removal." You write as though the statues 
were there (as they've been for 100 or so years) then 
BOOM the hate groups came to Charlottesville. You 
conveniently left out facts like Wes Bellamy started the 
statue adversity saying his female relative walked past 
the Lee statue in Lee Park and felt scared. Bellamy 
pushed for the ... See More 

Like· Reply· C 3 · 11w · Edited 

: II Joyce Stevens 

! Yes she was not impartial. 

Like· Reply· C 2 · 11w 

Rick Borden 

Very well said. 

Like· Reply· 0 2 · 11w 

':. Carole Thorpe 
: ~ I am consistently impressed with Lisa's 

reporting, but less so with this report. There 
were many mitigating factors which you filled in 
(thank you) that need to be known to fully 
understand the complexities of the situation. 
May I add the ridiculous Bellamy-led boycott of 
Bella's Restaurant (which failed magnificently) 
in his personal retribution against something an 
owner had to say about the KKK/BLM on social 
media. All of this feuled an atmosphere that 
created a volatile hotbed that cannot be ignored 
when examining this matter. 

Like · Reply · C 1 · 1 Ow · Edited 

Show 1 more reply in this thread 

~ Karl Burkhalter 

gj Another Propaganda piece meant to forward fallacy that 
the North was righteous in opposing Secession and 
Slavery, while the South was evil fighting for White 
Supremacy. But Northern Banks holding slaves as 
collateral to facilitate their number one cash export, 
textiles, not only refused to forgive slave loans to 
facilitate emancipation, they rented out slaves taken in 
foreclosure to RRs where they were worked to death, 
not freed. Union Armies committed genocide against 
Native Americans and Blacks at death camps like 
Bosque Redondo and Devil' Punchbowl, because the 
North wanted to be free of Minorities not free for 
Minorities. 



Like· Reply· C 3 · 11w 

i • Joyce Stevens 

, Well said 

Like· Reply· C 1 · 11w 

Rick Borden 

Very interesting! Thanks! 

Like· Reply· C 1 · 11w 

• Gordon Dean Flick 

· More trash writing. I didn't see anywhere in the article 
you write about the fact it's illegal under Virginia State 
Law to move these statues. 

Like· Reply· C 5 · 11w · Edited 

Rick Borden 

How have the War Memorials contributed to people's 
poor choices? How about the rock at the far edge of 
town? Should that also be used as vehicle for racial 
victimization? The Memorials were put in place for 
people to heal from the loss of sons, fathers, brothers, 
uncles, cousins. It is a historical factoid that most of 
your Confederate Infantry did not own slaves. In fact a 
sizable portion weren't much better off than slaves. 
They were duped by the Elites of that day and how 
easy would this have been? None owned TVs, 
cellphones or even recieved newspapers by which to 
make informed decisi. .. See More 

Like· Reply· C 3 · 11w 

~ Will Lyster 

lilll I would like to know how the author of this article 
determined that the plaintiff, Stefanie Marshall attended 
or graduated from Albemarle High School. 

I see that a Stefanie Marshall is listed in the 1983 AHS 
Yearbook "The Peer", but surely she would have still 
been using her maiden name at that time. 
https://issuu.com/stanmaupin/docs/1983_finalpeer 

One would think that a journalist with the experience 
that Lisa Provence has would have done more 
thorough research and try to get it right before rushing 
an article to publication. 

I wonder what else is incorrect in this article ... ? 

Like· Reply· C 9 · 11w 

Ill Lloyd Snook 

Do we assume from your question that you 
know that the person who is a plaintiff here did 
NOT graduate from AHS? You don't actually 
say that, but your criticism of Lisa makes no 
sense unless you know that to be true. In which 
case, perhaps you should say so. 

- . -- ,. 
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Who's who in 
the fight to keep 

Confederate 
monuments 

By Lisa Provence 
lisa@::-viJJe com 

Sons of Confederate Veterans· Frank 
Earnest (above) is unwavering in his befief 

that the Civil War was not about slavery. 
and the statues of generals Lee and 

Jackson-hono, deleAders of.the.stale.• 
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I Before August 12, 2017, many people thought of America's Confederate statues as -. "' 
harmless pieces of history-if they thought of them at all. Then the hate groups came i 
to Charlottesville, ostensibly to protest the monuments' removal. The violent clashes ~ 
that led to the death of Heather Heyer and the injury of dozens, and the sight of Con~ j 
federate flags waving alongside Nazi flags, b rought new urgency to the conversation !! 
about the meaning of Confederate symbols. . s-

Cities like Baltimore and New Orleans quietly sent their monuments packing. @ 

Descendants of General Robert E. Lee and General Stonewall Jackson have said [ 
statues of their ancestors have become tribut~s to white supremacy and need to go. 8 
And many brought up the words of Lee himself, who was opposed to memorializing l 
the Confederacy after the war was over. ~ 

But one group of citizens remains unconvinced-the 13 plaintiffs in the lawsuit i 
lmo.wn as Monument Fund v. Charlottesville. ~ 



16 CONllNUEDFAOM PAGE 1& T he people and organizations su-
ing to stop the city from moving 
its Confederate •tatues •tnddle a 

spccllUm that ranges from First Families of 
Virginia to a heritage organization that has 
members who were here August 12 with a 

xcasionist, neo--Confederate gang. 
"You've got the bow tie, upscale people tied 

to the League of the South people who want 
10 secede and arc slavery apologists," says 
activut and UVA proftssor Jabnc Schmidt 

Three years ago, some City Council members 
and local activists raised the idea of removing 
lheConfederatcsta01£$fromdowntown. The 
city appointed a community commission 
that spent months examining the is.sue and 
ultimately presented City Council with two 

option• to consider. rdocating the •tarues 
to McIntire Park or re-<0n1extualizing them 
by transforming the existing sites. In Fcbru-
ary 2017, <;:iiyCouncil voted 3-2 to remove 
the Ltt statue, and in April voted to sell it 

Then came August 12. Following the 
trauma that made Oiarlottesville a nation• 
al hashag, former "no• votes Miu Signer 
and Kathy Galvin joined Wes Bellamy, Kris-
tin Sz:alcos, and Bob Fenwiclc in saying that 
both the Ltt and Jack.on statues should go. 

And that's the issue in the Jaw.uit: whtth-
er councilors violated Virginia stat< law, 
which forbids the removal of war mcmori-
als, when they voted to send the Confederate 
gcncrals on their way. 

The lawsuit is approaching its seoond an-
niversary March 20. It's Khcduled 10 be in 
roun March 11, but plainttff spokesman 
Buddy Weber is dubious that it will go 10 lrull 
then because Jones Day, one of the lugest Jaw 
firms in the world, i.s reprc..nting four of the 
five rouncilors and has asud for a jury trial. 

In the two years the ase has betn active, 
Judge Rick Moore has ruled that the council-
ors do not have immunity and arc pcnonally 
liable for voting to remove the monuments. 

In January, Dclcg;,tc David Toscano car-
ried a bill to allow localities to deadc for 
themselves whether they want Confederate 
statues in their midst. The bill wu killed in 
subcomm,tttt. 

While much bas been wntten about-
and much blame thrown at-those who first 
ni5Cd the idea of removing Confcdcralc 
monuments from the center of lawn, very 

~ 
little at:teorion has bttn paid to those still 
fighting tht city's decision. C-VILLE reached Q) 

f out to the plaintiffs 10 find out why they 
Qi joined tht suit and whether anything bad 

I dunged for them since 2017. 
Here's what we found out: 

8 
.>l Edward Dickinson .§ 

Tayloe II QI 
0 
~ 

Tayloe, 76,comes from a First Family ofVir-

~ ginia that was one of the largest 51avce-owning 

I: dynasties in Virginia. Hiunoestor, John 'llty-
0 loe II, called "one of the nchest men of his u 

day,"built Mount Airy plantation in Warsaw. .; 
~ Tayloe's great-great-grandbther, Benjamin 
~ Oglt Tayloe, inve.ted in his broth,r Henry's u 

plan to start a collon plantation in the Black 
0) 

8 B<lt of Alabama in 1835, aa:ordmg to Richard 
N Dunn's2015 book.A TakofTwoPIDntarions: 
~ Slavt Life a11d Labor 1n Jam4ra, and VilJlnia. 
I An 1807 ban on importing slaves had <D 

.r:: opened the domestic slave trade for Vir-

~ ginia and other c.oestal stales. The Tayloes 
::s had a surplus of ensla-1 laborers at their 

• 

Mount Airy plantation and they smt them 
lo the Dttp South. 

In 1838, the Tayloe brothers forced 57 
slaves to walk 800 miles to Alabama. where 
most were $Old. It wu "the audest act that 
I have found reoorded in the Tayloe papers," 
writes Dunn. 

Ben Jamin Ogk Tayloe rontinued to 5Cnd 
rcbelliow slaves to Alabama as a warning 10 
remaining slaves, says Dunn. 

Between 1833 and 1854, the Tayloes 
marched 120 enm,"t<! people to Abbama, 
and another 98 were sent during the Civil 
War,says Dunn. The domestic migration of 
enslaved people 50parated families, made 
Virginia a major $lave aportcr, and further 
enriched the Tayloes. 

PlaintiffTayloe's father, Edward Thom-
ton Tayloe fV, wa. vice-chair of the Charlot-
tcsville R.cdevelopmcnt and Housing Au• 
thority when the decision was made 10 rue 
the African American community ofV-tn-
cgar Hill o,-.:r the objections of its residents, 
many of whom were unable to vote on the 
issue becawc of a poll tax. 

And lhc plainnff, a portfolio manager, 
was past president of the Ltt-Jackson Foun-
dation, which hu an endowment of nearly 
$4 million, according 10 20 I 4 I RS filings, 
and awards scholarships to students who 
write essays examining the legacies of the 
Confederate generals. 

According to the lawsuit, Tayloe AW rombat 
during the V!Clnarn War and 5C<Ved in Sp«ial 
Porces, and bas a "special inttres1 in tht protec-
tion and preservation of war memorials in the 
city."Thcltt-Jac:kson F-oundation contnb-
uted money in 1997 to the restoration of the 
Ltt and Jaduon statues, says the •uit 

A woman answering the phone at the 
Tayloe residence referred a reporter to 
spoltcsperson Weber. 

The plaintiff's nephew, Tayloe Emery, 
who lives at Mount Airy plantation and who 
used to work at C-VILLE Weekly, bristles at 
a rcponer's inquiry about whether family 
members share his uncle's enthwiasm for 
Confederate monuments. He wriles in an 
email, "It's a shame that our family name is 
being dragged arowxl by the media and that 
reporters have the audacity to ask me stupid 
qucstions,1.ik,'do all of your family support 
Confederate monuments!' 

"The answtt is of course, no. The vast ma-
jority of my V-1rgu11a family arc against Con-
federate monuments and anything thal pays 
lip service to whue nationalism in any way, 
shape, or form. Though many of w do in fw 
disagree with this lawsuit, we siill support 
family member. who may think differently on 
the wbjcct and ....., hope that through conlln• 
ued conversation that thty might see things 
from a different pcrspectiV< and under•tand 
th~ bitter fttlings and abhorrent racism u ~ 
sociated with Confederate monuments." 

Says Schmidt, "For generations this faro-
ily has been roiling the lives of black people, 
and this is what [plaintiff Tayloe) chooses 
to pursue.• 

Anthony Griffin 
Britton Franklin 
Earnest 
Virginia Dmsion, Sons of 
Confederate Veterans 

Smithlicld resident Tony Griffin, 57, is a Sora 
of Confederate Veterans •commander," and 

Sons of Confederate Veterans member Ge0<ge Randan carries the llag or neo-Conlederate 
league ol the South at Unite the Right 

Frank Earnest, who lives in Virginia lkadi, 
holds the title "heritage defense coordinator.• 

Earnest, 63, has bttn representing the 
Sons for almost 30 years, he says. "We are 
the bloodline descendants of the Confeder­
ate Army," and when people start "mud­
slinging" about the Confederacy, they're 
"talking about my great-great-grandfather.• 

The Sons of Confederate Veterans con­
tributed money to the 1997 restoration of 
the Ltt and Jacluon statues, and to the liti­
gation, accord.ing 10 the lawsuit. -We don't 
want to see monuments to defending our 
state removed," says Earnest. 

Earnest wu in town August 11, 2017, for 
a Katie Courie interview and then got the 
hcd:. oul of Dodge. "It's pretty bad whtn you 
know a riot is coming, .. ht says. 

But the violence and open white nation­
alism of the Unite the Right rally have not 
changed Earnest's mind about Confederate 
monuments. "Absolutely not," be says. "It's 
not something that comes or goes. They 
honor our ancestors.• 

And he maintains the SCV bas nothing 
10 do with the white supremacist and neo­
Nazi groups that showed up here, adding 
that it advi.scd its members to stay away. -We 
have always denounced racist groups over 
our hundred-year history," he says. -We have 
nothing to do with those people." 

Yet some Sons of Confederate Vettrans 
mtmbcrs were here and hold dual aflihations 
wi1h League of the South, which desaibcs 
itself as a "Southern nationalist organiza­
tion." Its website honors John Wilkes Booth 
for his service "to th< South and humanity." 

"We're an organization of thousands," 
says Earnest when asud about brothers 
Georg< and Gregory Randall. He b<.lievcs 
they're still SCV members. "I don"t think we 

determined anyone in SCV did anything 
that ro5C to the level of rompletc expul.io1L" 

And, he says, Sons of Conf<dera1c Veter• 
ans are • in no way associatecr with League 
of the South. 

Gregory Randall, who portrays General 
Stonewall Jackson in Civil War reenact• 
menu, and his twin Gcofie were in Charlot• 
tesvillc August 12 with League of the South. 

Geofie Randall, who lives near Freder­
icksburg, says he keeps his mcmber•hips 
sepanlt and dt5aibcs Son• of Confederate 
Veterans as a "historical" group while l.caguc 
of the South is "mo« political." 

Of the latter, he explains, "We're s«es­
sionists.• He cites his ancestors and the Lost 
Cause narrative in objecting to Confederate 
monument removal. -We were invaded." 
And he insists, "The war had nothing to do 
with slavery." 

He also blames Wes Bcllarny for 1he who It 
monument mess, and says Bellamy ,s a 
"black supremacist• 

Says Randall, "I'm tired of everything be­
ing abotil race. race, nee." He objects to be­
ing called a white supremacist fo r wanting 
to "protect our culture. If you stand up f~r 
your people, you're a Nui or racist. It has 
nothing to do with hate." 

Randall was here for a lawsuit hearing in 
2017 to provideStturttyfor an unnamed per­
so.n, he5ays, but did noucern keen on return• 
ing for the uproming court date because the 
last time he was here, his tires were slashed. 

"I think O,arlottesville sucks," he says, 
denouncing •anarchist c.ommunists• a.nd 
"antifu" whom he says threw urine and feces 
at him and bis League of the South colleagues 
August 12. Says Randall, "You can't wear a 
MAGA hat. I think it's a aying shame." 

"Did we haw a couple of rogue members 
in Charlottesville?" queries E.lmest. "Prob­
ably, but wc told them not to corn<." 

l • there a percepl1on th:u the Sons of 
Confederate Veterans is a racist organiza­
tion? "How much more preiudiced and 
bigoted can you be 10 ask that!" says Earnest, 
who hos had a lot of experience talking to 
the press, not all of it 10 bis satisfaction. 

Por instance, he .. -... not pleased with a 
November 28 Washington Po•t story about 
him tided"Sins of the Fathers: ThcConfed• 
eracy wu built on slavery. How can so many 
Southern wh1tes bcliew otherwise?• 

•1 was very disappointed," he says. 

Charles L. Weber Jr. 
Buddy Weber wu in the U.S. Navy for 27 
years, 5Crving u a combat pilot before getting 
bislawdcgrcc from UVA in 1998. He was chair 
of the city GOP, and in 2013, he ran for City 
Council with former aty cop Mike Farruggio. 

Weber, 73, imtially was appointed def<n5C 
attorney for Heather Hcycr's murderer, James 
Fields, but cited hu role in the lawsuit u a 
conflict of interest 

He say, he signed on asa plamtifffor two 
reasons. As a lawyer and firm believer in the 



rule of law, "it's my earnest bdief Crty Coun­
cil bad violakd the law, whether you believe 

. the statues should stay or go," he says. 
·And asa veteran of the"very unpopular" 

Vietnam War, be worries that those memo­
rials could be next, negating the sacrifice 
c:itiz.cos made of life and limb to defend this 
country. Virginia state law "protecta these 
memorials from the 1hifting tide of public 
opinion: be says. 

If the General Assembly decides to change 
that, it can, be says, but he thinks Toscano'• 
bill to allow localities to mm their own 
decisions about Confederate monuments is 
•a cop out.• 

Weber also distances hi.m.,df from those 
who showed up to support the Confeder­
ate monuments in 2017, taking the battle 
to court instead. "We do it without lighting 
tilci torches," he says. "l don't personally 
feel tarred because we have no association 
with them.• 

Lloyd Smith 
The fowidingpartner of law firm 1\-ernblay 
and Smith and a founder of Guaranty Bank 
and V-rrginia Broadcasting, the parmt com­
pany of today's NBC29, died last summer at 
age 85. 

From 1997 through 1999, the former Ma­
rine represented a private group of citiz.eru 
who raised money to restore the Ltt and Jack­
son surues. That was a major reason he signed 
onto the lawsuit, says his son, Garren Smith. 

"The city agreed to maintain the statues 
in perprtuity,"he says, adding that his father 
alway, fdt that when be represented people 
as clicnu, be continued_to repi:esent them. 

Uoyd Smith "had a great love of history" 
and would visit Civil War banle sites, says 
Garrett Smith. "He believed the facts of the 
Civil War and the oppression of enslaved 
people was a history that needed to be told 
and widcrstood." 

According to Smith, when Weber and at­
torney Fred Payne were helping to organize 
the lawsuit, they knew his father as "a Demo­
crat and be represented a different group. He 
wasn't a hardcore conservatiw, Rq,ublican." 

He says his father was saddened by the 
=ts of August 2017, but Garren Smith 
doesn't think that changed his father's mind· 
about the statues. "The city had become a 
Rashpoint for a larger national debate." 

Frederick W. 
Payne 
Attorney Fred Payne declined to comment 
for this story. In the first court bearing on 
the case May 2, 2017, Payne testified as an 
expert on Civil War uniforms because be 
"grew up with Confederate insignias since 
he was IO years old." 

The fowider of Payne and Hodous in 
1992, he serves as county attorney for Flu­
V211J1a, and was deputy county anorney for 
Albmiarle from 1974 to 1987. He was also 
was an assistant commonwealth's attorney 
for the county in 1979, according to the 
Payne and Hodous website. 

Payne graduated magna cum laude from 
Yale, and got his law degree at WA. He's 
been presideni of the Cha.dottesville Albe­
marle Bar Association, as-well as bead of the 
city and cowity criminal bar association. 

One of Payne's better-known cases was 
hi, defense of widow Shirley Prcdey, who. 
in 2002, strung razor wire to block Riva.nna 

1l-ail hlktrs from a path on her property 
along the river. The Rivanna Trail Founda­
tion neglected to get her permission or an 
easement for that portion of the trail A 

judge ruled in Presley's f.avor on a code vio­
lation, and she settled her $1.5 million law­
suit against the city and foundation in 2008. 

Edward Bergen Fry the last meeting, her immortal words rang 17 
out '.Rearranged junlc is still junk." 

John .Bosley 
Yellott Jr. 
The Monwnent Fund 
Jock Ydlon is the fourth plaintiff in the law­
suit who's an attorney. He's also executive 
director of the Monument Fund, a non­
profit formed in October 2016 to help fund 
the statues' defense. In 2017, it rai,ed near­
ly $119,000, according to its [RS 990 form. 

Because of his fundrosing, Ycllon, 64, bas 
a financial in-in the outcome of the suit, 
and he conducts history tours describing the 
monuments, according to the complainL He 
testified that he walks his dog through Mar­
ket Street or Court Square parks daily. He 
clid not return C-VJLLE's call. 

Ned Fry, 31, is the youngest of the plain­
tiffs. His great uncle Henry Shrady was the 
sculptor McIntire hired to create the Lee 
statue, and Sbr.ody also did the Ulysses S. 
Grant statue in Washington near the Capi­
tol Fry is himself a sculptor and graduated 
with a degree in sculpture from V'trginia 
Commonwealth University. The CHS grad 
did not get back to us to discuss further his 
participation in the lawsuit, but at a 2016 
Blue Ribbon Commission on Race, Memo­
rial, and Public Spacn hearing, h;e sakl he 
was in favor of keeping the statues because, 
"They are historical works of art and, more 
importantly, because Henry Shrady is my 
great-great-great uncle." 

Virginia C. Ami~s 

On Facebook, she supports prayer in 
school-and in the White House, 

And through marriage, Amiu is related 
to Unite the Right organizer Jason Kessler. 
Aaording to Ancestry.com and U.S. Censw 
records, her husband, Lester "Randy" Amiss 
was first cousin to Kessler's great-grandfa­
ther, LaSalle Norvell 

Stefanie Marshall 
Albemarle resident Marshall i5 chair of the 
Monument Fund and has "personally ex­
pended money and effort in deaning graf­
fiti from the Lee monument in 2011 and 
2015," says the complainL 

She and her husband own construction 
company M3, which specializes in masonry. 
The company supports the Fraternal Order 
of Police, Live Arts, The Paramount Theater, 
Albemarle Charlottesville Historical Society 
and various local charitable organizations, 
according to its website. 

The lawsuit is not the lint time the coun­
ty resident and Albemarle High grad bas 
bad a problem with city government. In 

Betty Jane 
Franklin Phillips 

The 94-year-old plaintiff ttmembers rid­
ing the trolley from downtown to the 
Rotunda when she was 7 years old to take 
violin lessoris, and that's when she de­
cided she wanted to study nursing at UVA, 

she wrote to V-rrginia .magazine in 2010. 
She graduated in 1946, and worked at 
UVA and in Houston, as an operating 
room supervisor. 

2016, she took issue with City Council's ... . 

Phillips, 82, is described in court documents 
as a collatual descendant of Paul Goodloe 
McIntire, who donated the controversial 
statues and the once-segregated parl<s they 
inhabit, along with a number of other mon­
uments, parks, and buildings around town. 
The Keswick resident is a Lane High School 
graduate. She did not respond to phone 
messages from C-VJLLE. 

Amiu bad had denial surgery and didn't 
feel up to talking when C-Vll.LE reached 
her, and she did not respond a follow-up call. 

While she is suing to keep the Confeder­
ate statues, she was not a fan of other sculp­
tures installed around town by the city's Art 
in Place program, a nonprofit dedicated to 
public art. In 2005, she asked City Council 
to eliminate the $5,000 it gave to the pro­
gram. As Cvilleindymedia.org reported,• Al 

decision to honor I<hizr and Ghazala Khan, 
and told council: " It seems to me that in 
order for a Gold Star family to be honored 
and recognittd by the curttn.t City Council, 
they must speak at the Democratic Na-
tional Convention. This is not appropriate, 
nor is it. acceptable. It reeks of choosing to 
honor specific families or individuals be-
cause they fit your narrative." 

Marshall, 52, did not respond to a mes­
sage fi;om C-VTLLE. @ 

1. Attorney and Vietnam War vet Buddy Weber worries that if memorials to unpopular wars can be removed, Vietnam War monuments could be 
next 2. Fred Payne, an attorney and lawsuit plaintiff, has testified as an expert on Civil War uniforms. 3. John Tayloe Ill, ancestor of lawsuit 
plaintiff Edward Dickinson Tayloe II, was one of the wealthiest men of his generation and ·bred horses and slaves; says the New Yori< limes review 
of Richard Dunn's A Tale of Two Plantations. 
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